ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

OCT 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Laurens County

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIAM JARRELL ALEXANDER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002207

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting statements made by appellant to the police when the officers testified they knew he was heavily intoxicated, having drunk twenty-six beers, snorted cocaine, and used MDMA?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting appellant's statements made after the police threatened appellant and told him that he would be charged with murder "if we don't get anything today"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 6, 2013, a Laurens County grand jury indicted appellant for accessory after the fact to murder. R. 685. On September 8, 2014, appellant was tried before the Honorable Eugene Griffith, Jr. and a jury. R. 1. The State was represented by David M. Stumbo, C. Dale Scott, and Demetrious G. Andrews. R. 1. Chelsea McNeill, Kate Kendall, and Claude H. Howe, III, represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 673, ll. 7 – 15. On October 10, 2014, Judge Griffith sentenced appellant to seven years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of three years' imprisonment and three years' probation. October 10, 2014, R. 681, ll. 1 – 14. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in admitting statements made by appellant to the police when the officers testified they knew he was heavily intoxicated, having drunk twenty-six beers, snorted cocaine, and used MDMA.

The entire prosecution of appellant rested on two sets of statements he gave to the police in the span of less than twenty-four hours. These statements all dealt with what appellant knew about the death of Emily Anna Asbill (“Asbill”).¹ The State’s theory of the case was that appellant lied in his earlier statements in an attempt to cover up a murder committed by his best friend.

Late on the night of June 29, 2013, Henry Simmons (“Simmons”) called 911. R. 224, ll. 10 – 21. R. 219, l. 19 – 220, l. 2. Simmons’ stepson, Michael Beaty (“Beaty”) and appellant had just rung his doorbell telling him that Asbill was hurt and might be dead. R. 224, ll. 10 – 21. Simmons checked her pulse and, finding none, called 911. R. 224, ll. 10 – 21.

Beaty and appellant were lifelong friends. R. 225, ll. 3 – 5. Beaty and Asbill were dating. R. 225, ll. 11 – 15. Beaty, appellant, and Asbill had been at a wake that day. R. 329, ll. 8 – 12. The wake was “an all day thing” according to its host. R. 329, ll. 20 – 24. “Everyone but a pregnant woman” was drinking alcohol at the party. R. 346, ll. 6 – 11. The autopsy report showed that Asbill’s BAC was .23. R. 567, ll. 19 – 24. Asbill had been strangled. R. 554, ll. 5 – 9. She had ligature marks around her neck. R. 554, l. 14 – 555, l. 4. Asbill also had serious abrasions to her right forearm. R. 556, ll. 19 – 25.

¹ Asbill is frequently referred to in the transcript as “E.A.”

Multiple police officers testified at the lengthy pretrial Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing regarding statements made by appellant. Appellant made two sets of statements. Three of the statements were made in the immediate aftermath of Asbill's death, in the early morning hours of July 30, 2013, while appellant was grossly intoxicated. The first was made to Officer Tyrone Goggins ("Goggins") at the scene. R. 14, ll. 10 – 17. Goggins recalled that appellant was "swaying back and forth like he was intoxicated." R. 12, ll. 2 – 3. Goggins smelled alcohol on appellant's person. R. 12, ll. 4 – 5. Appellant told Goggins that he been intoxicated and blacked out. R. 14, ll. 8 – 17. While Goggins maintained that appellant understood what he was saying, he added that appellant "just seemed to be highly intoxicated and swaying back and forth as he was – he was having a hard time remaining on his feet." R. 15, ll. 7 – 13. Goggins admitted that appellant would have been arrested for DUI had he been driving a vehicle. R. 18, l. 23 – 19, l. 2. Appellant later told Goggins that he had taken cocaine and "a drug called Molly" at the party. R. 62, ll. 9 – 19. The police did not arrest appellant, but transported him to the police department. R. 16, ll. 17 – 22.

In this first statement, appellant told Goggins that he had been at a party, had left with Beaty and Asbill, and had blacked out. R. 14, ll. 8 – 17. He remembered arriving at the Simmons' house, going inside, and laying down. R. 14, ll. 8 – 17. He remembered Beaty later coming to the door stating that he needed help for Asbill. R. 14, ll. 8 – 17. Appellant also told Goggins that Asbill was "a cutter." R. 18, ll. 6 – 10.

The next police officer to interview appellant was Officer Crystal Roberts ("Roberts"). When she arrived at the police station, she found appellant "just sitting in a chair sleeping." R. 22, ll. 16 – 17. Roberts admitted that appellant was "passed out." R.

31, ll. 2 – 4. Appellant smelled of alcohol. R. 32, l. 25 – 33, l. 1. Appellant’s eyes were “incredibly bloodshot.” R. 33, ll. 5 – 7. She gave appellant his Miranda warnings. R. 23, ll. 7 – 26, l. 2. Robert stated, “in my personal opinion, [appellant] was intoxicated. He smelled of alcohol. He was sleeping prior to me getting there and you could just tell he was intoxicated.” R. 26, ll. 3 – 8. Appellant later told Roberts that he drank “twenty-six or so beers.” R. 85, l. 17 – 25. Despite his obvious intoxication, Roberts testified that appellant understood his rights. R. 26, ll. 9 – 11.

In his oral statement to Roberts, appellant told her that he “drank a lot that night” and that “he blacked out basically in the back seat of the car.” R. 27, ll. 7 – 16. Appellant told Roberts he did not remember anything until waking up and seeing crime scene tape around Asbill’s car at the Simmons’ residence. R. 27, ll. 7 – 16.

The next officer to interview appellant said appellant did not appear to be intoxicated. R. 38, l. 22 – 39, l. 2. SLED agent Michael Collins (“Collins”), when asked if he could tell whether appellant had been drinking, responded, “A little.” R. 38, ll. 11 – 19. Collins stated that appellant did not appear to be drunk. R. 38, l. 22 – 39, l. 2. When Collins first saw appellant, he had a blanket pulled over his legs and arms. R. 38, ll. 3 – 8. Appellant told Collins that he had been drinking all day. R. 40, ll. 12 – 14. Collins admitted that he could smell alcohol on appellant. R. 43, ll. 16 – 18.

Appellant again described the party and leaving with Beaty and Asbill. R. 39, ll. 6 – 40, l. 23. Beaty drove, Asbill sat in the front passenger seat, and appellant sat in the back seat. R. 40, ll. 15 – 23. Appellant noticed “some tension in the car.” R. 41, ll. 1 – 8. Beaty, Asbill, and appellant all went inside the Simmons’ house and appellant tried to sleep. R. 41, ll. 11 – 21. Appellant could not sleep because Asbill and Beaty were

talking loudly. R. 41, ll. 11 – 22. He also told Collins that Asbill and Beaty had an abusive relationship and that Asbill would sometimes bite Beaty. R. 42, ll. 14 – 21.

Another SLED agent, Harvey Owens (“Owens”), also claimed that appellant was not inebriated. R. 52, ll. 2 – 9. He did admit that he could tell appellant had been drinking. R. 52, ll. 10 – 12. He could smell alcohol on appellant. R. 54, ll. 9 – 10. Owens stated that he would not have been comfortable allowing appellant to drive him in a car. R. 55, ll. 3 – 5. Owens denied this was because appellant was intoxicated, clarifying that he was “very particular who I ride with.” R. 55, ll. 6 – 10.

Appellant argued that his level of intoxication rendered his statements involuntary. R. 159, l. 22 – 160, l. 11. The trial judge, in summary fashion, ruled the statements were admissible. R. 167, l. 20 – 168, l. 13.

The trial court erred in not excluding appellant’s statements because of his extreme intoxication. In Denno, the United States Supreme Court confronted statements made by a wounded suspect who had been given demerol and scopolamine. Denno, 378 U.S. at 370-72. The Court used this as a factor as to whether the accused’s will had been “overborne” and ultimately ruled that the trial court erred in not granting him an evidentiary hearing on the voluntariness of his statements. Id. at 391-95.

The determination of voluntariness is based on the totality of the circumstances. State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 652 S.E.2d 444 (Ct. App. 2007). Among the factors to consider is the defendant’s physical condition. Greenwald v. Wisconsin, 390 U.S. 519 (1968). While statements made under the influence are not per se inadmissible, “at some point the degree of intoxication may prohibit one from acting rationally or voluntarily.” United States v. Cellemme, 431 F.Supp. 731, 734 (D. Mass. 1977).

In this case, both Goggins and Roberts testified that appellant was intoxicated when he made his statements. The SLED agents, while claiming appellant was not intoxicated, admitted appellant smelled of alcohol and they could tell he had been drinking. Appellant told the officers he blacked out. He had consumed over two cases of beer, cocaine, and MDMA. Under this high degree of intoxication, appellant's statements could not have been voluntary and the trial court erred in admitting them.

2.

The trial court erred in admitting appellant's statements made after the police threatened appellant and told him that he would be charged with murder "if we don't get anything today."

Appellant's next set of statements were given the next day. R. 58, ll. 3 – 6. Appellant left the police station after giving the statements described in Issue One. R. 58, ll. 3 – 6. Appellant returned to the police station the next day at approximately 2:00 PM. R. 57, l. 19 – 58, l. 19. Goggins gave appellant his Miranda warnings. R. 59, ll. 19 – 25. Appellant repeated his earlier version of events Goggins. R. 62, ll. 3 – 24.

Appellant was then interviewed by Roberts and Collins. R. 80, ll. 13 – 15. Roberts recorded a portion of this statement. R. 89, l. 22 – 90, l. 4. Roberts used her iPhone to record the interview, but her phone quit recording when she received a call. R. 101, l. 18 – 102, l. 2. The recording was introduced as an exhibit and played for the trial judge. R. 107, ll. 17 – 18. Def. Ex. 1.

During the interview, the police threatened appellant. Def. Ex. 1. Collins told appellant that, "If we don't get the absolute truth from either of you, it's going to be both of you." Def. Ex. 1. He told appellant "And the charges are going to read the same:

murder.” Def. Ex. 1. Roberts told appellant, “Your arrest warrant is going to say William Jarrell Alexander is charged with the murder of Emily Asbill.” Def. Ex. 1. Appellant then asked if he was being arrested. Def. Ex. 1. Roberts responded, “Tell us something!” Def. Ex. 1. Appellant said, “I wish I could.” Def. Ex. 1.

Collins then told appellant that he could tell he was scared. Def. Ex. 1. He said, “Fear is a good thing. Fear keeps people alive. Fear keeps people out of jail. Fear minimizes jail time.” Def. Ex. 1. After further confronting appellant with supposed facts of the crime, Roberts told him, “We really need you to tell us today.” Def. Ex. 1. She said, “Because if we don’t get anything today, before you walk out that door, I’m telling you, you’re going to be charged with murder. For killing Emily Asbill.” Def. Ex. 1. Appellant then told the police to go ahead and charge him. Def. Ex. 1. Shortly thereafter, the recording stops mid-questioning. Def. Ex. 1.

After these threats, the questioning continued and appellant eventually gave police a written statement that Beaty told him, “I think I messed up, I might have ended her life.” R. 86, ll. 12 – 25. State’s Ex. 5. Appellant was then immediately given a polygraph and after its conclusion, gave a more detailed statement implicating Beaty. R. 125, ll. 2 – 6. R. 133, ll. 7 – 24. R. 142, l. 14 – 144, l. 2. State’s Ex. 7. In this statement, appellant wrote that Beaty was upset because Asbill had been flirting with appellant. State’s Ex. 7. They stopped on a country road and Beaty drug Asbill down the road. State’s Ex. 7. When they arrived at the Simmons’ house, appellant stayed in the garage smoking cigarettes. State’s Ex. 7. He saw Beaty on top of Asbill in the car with his hands around her throat. State’s Ex. 7. Beaty then told appellant that he “messed up”

and “may have taken her life.” State’s Ex. 7. Beaty asked appellant not to tell anyone because of their friendship. State’s Ex. 7.

In order to introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 426 (1966). See also State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 512, 702 S.E.2d 395, 400 (Ct. App. 2010). “Further, the confession may not be extracted by any sort of threats or violence, or obtained by any direct or implied promises, however slight, or by the exertion of improper influence.” State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990) (internal quotations omitted).

In State v. Osborne, 301 S.C. 363, 392 S.E.2d 178 (1990), the Court held that law enforcement’s admission that the defendant would be charged with withholding information or giving the police officer a false statement if she was not forthcoming mandated suppression of her confession. The defendant was told “you don’t have to say anything, but if you withhold evidence, you can be charged with a crime.” Osborne, at 366, 392 S.E.2d at 179.