STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County
The Honorable Eugene Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002207

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

OCT 02 2015
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM JARRELL ALEXANDER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Staff Attorney

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864)942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly ruled Appellant knowingly and voluntarily gave his statements to the police, despite his purported consumption of alcohol, cocaine, and MDMA at a party the previous day because evidence showed Appellant was fully capable of understanding and communicating clearly with law enforcement, particularly as time passed.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting his incriminating statements to officers at the police station. Appellant argues his gross intoxication from alcohol, cocaine, and MDMA precluded a knowing and voluntary waiver of his Miranda rights. Intoxication does not automatically render a person incapable of waiving his rights, however, and the evidence shows Appellant was fully able to understand and communicate with officers. The trial judge committed no error in admitting Appellant's statements, and Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

The admission or exclusion of evidence rests on the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice. State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995); *see also* State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 301, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841 (2010) (stating appellate courts must uphold the trial court's findings regarding whether a defendant was in custody when statements were made if the trial judge's ruling is supported by the record). On appeal, the conclusion of

the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a confession will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. State v. Livingston, 223 S.C. 1, 6, 73 S.E.2d 850, 852 (1952); see also State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990). The standard of review is limited to determining whether the trial court's ruling is supported by **any evidence**. State v. Breeze, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008) (emphasis added).

Voluntariness of Waiver

Prior to a custodial interrogation, a suspect must be warned he has a right to remain silent, any of his statements may be used against him, and he has a right to an attorney, pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). If a defendant is advised of his Miranda rights, but chooses to make a statement, the burden is on the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he voluntarily waived those rights. State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990) (quoting State v. Neeley, 271 S.C. 33, 40, 244 S.E.2d 522, 526 (1978)). The waiver must also be made with the full awareness of the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it. Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986). The trial judge's determination of whether a statement was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made requires an examination of the totality of the circumstances surrounding the waiver. State v. Doby, 273 S.C. 704, 708, 258 S.E.2d 896, 899 (1979).

In the instant case, law enforcement read Appellant his Miranda rights on four occasions during a twelve hour window. Appellant gave seven statements to the police; three of them written and four oral. Appellant does not argue police questioned him in violation of Miranda. Instead, he argues that despite the proper administration of the Miranda warnings, he did not freely and voluntarily waive his right to remain silent

because he was too intoxicated. (Appellant's Brief, p. 8.) Appellant cites as evidence of his intoxication **his statements** to the police that he consumed twenty-six beers, cocaine, and MDMA. Appellant also cites the officers own observations of his demeanor during the early interrogations. (R. p. 63, lines 14-16; Appellant's Brief pp. 6-8.)

Appellant's efforts to mislead the police make it difficult to determine fact from fiction, however. Evidence showed the following facts at the Jackson v. Denno¹ hearing:

- 1) Goggins questioned Appellant on scene at the Simmons house, and noticed Appellant appeared unsteady on his feet, swaying back and forth, and smelled of alcohol. (R. p. 12, lines 1-5.) Though Appellant had trouble staying on his feet, he understood the questions presented to him and had no trouble communicating with Coggins. (R. p. 15, lines 16-20.)
- 2) Crystal Roberts, who arrived at the station after midnight, noticed Appellant sleeping at various times at the station house. (R. p. 22, lines 17-21) Roberts testified Appellant understood his rights and was able to communicate his needs to her while waiting for the SLED agents to arrive. (R. p. 27, lines 1-3.)
- 3) Agent Collins, who interviewed Appellant at approximately 2:00 am testified Appellant appeared coherent and seemed to understand him. (R. p. 37, lines 17-25.) In this statement, Appellant gave more detail about the events of the evening. (R. p. 41, lines 13-23.)
- 4) Agent Owens, who assisted Agent Collins, testified he did not believe Appellant was intoxicated at the time of questioning, but was aware Appellant had been drinking earlier in the day. (R. p. 52, lines 2-16.) Owens, too, testified Appellant communicated with the agents without any difficulty and seemed to understand his circumstances. (R. p. 52, lines 2-16.)
- 5) Appellant returned to the station around 2:00 pm later that day, which was approximately fourteen hours after his purported drug and alcohol consumption.² (R. p. 57, lines 22-24.) **Appellant drove himself to the station.** (R. p. 58, line 14.)
- 6) Coggins interviewed Appellant again, and noticed none of the previous evening's unsteadiness or signs of intoxication. (R. p. 61, lines 11-13.)
- 7) Roberts spoke to Appellant at 5:30 pm. (R. p. 77, lines 20-24.) Roberts made an audio recording of the conversation. (Defense Exhibit I.) In that conversation with Roberts, Appellant spoke clearly, discussed his child and portrait tattoos with the officers, and audibly waived his right to speak to them about the Victim's death without an attorney.

¹ 378 U.S. 368 (1964)

² Assuming his last opportunity to consume alcohol was around 11:00 pm. EMS responded approximately 11:15 pm. (R. p. 251, lines 24-25.)

(Defense Exhibit 1.) Appellant again mentioned his alcohol and drug consumption as an explanation of why he purportedly remembered almost nothing about the Victim's death.

- 8) Agent Charles testified Appellant volunteered to speak to Goggins and the other detectives "and tell them basically what happened." (R. p. 133, lines 19-20.)
- 9) At approximately 9:00 pm, Appellant gives his most detailed statement yet to law enforcement. (R. pp. 683-84.) In his statement, Appellant admits he told Beaty he would do his best to assist him in the cover up of the Victim's death. Appellant wrote, "He said, 'act like you don't know what's going on.'" (R. p. 684.) Goggins testified Appellant had something to eat and drink while he was making the statement. (R. p. 142, line 7.)

As Appellant's story changed, so did his observed level of intoxication. In his final written statement, Appellant admitted he was covering for Beaty initially. His earlier claim of gross intoxication was consistent with his efforts to deny knowledge of the Victim's death. Without independent testimony corroborating Appellant's drug use, his statements about the cocaine and MDMA use lack credibility. On the other hand, Appellant's alcohol consumption was supported by testimony from law enforcement officers and should be considered under the totality of the circumstances surrounding the waiver of his Miranda rights. Thus, the truth should only be inferred from what the officers observed, not what the Appellant claimed in his early statements.

Numerous jurisdictions have shed light on what it means to waive one's rights with "full awareness" within the context of intoxication or while under the influence of drugs or other impairments. Intoxication is one factor to be considered by the trial court in determining voluntariness and validity of a waiver of Miranda rights. However, intoxication alone does not invalidate a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver. In State v. White, the Court held that a suspect voluntarily waived his Miranda rights when he was in hospital bed on four point restraints and had been given sodium pentothal five hours prior to the questioning. 311 S.C. 289, 294-95, 428 S.E.2d 740, 743 (Ct. App.

1993). The officers did not question the suspect until after they had given him the Miranda warnings. White seemed to understand what he said to them and be aware of why the troopers were there. “The fact that he had been under medication and was strapped to his bed was, at best, only a circumstance the trial court was to consider in determining voluntariness.” *Id.* at 294-295, 428 S.E.2d at 743; *see also Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 107 S.Ct. 515, 93 L.Ed.2d 473 (1986) (holding coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to a finding that a confession is not voluntary, and a defendant's mental condition by itself and apart from official coercion does not dispose of the issue of voluntariness); *People v. Veloz*, 946 P.2d 525 (Colo.App.1997) (finding that intoxicated defendant who was stumbling around was properly advised of his rights and made statements voluntarily); *State v. Tribou*, 488 A.2d 472 (Me.1985) (although defendant had been drinking and smoking marijuana on the day of incident, he was not intoxicated and was able to understand and voluntarily to waive his rights); *State v. Finson*, 447 A.2d 788 (Me.1982) (even a person heavily intoxicated is not necessarily incapable of waiving constitutional rights).

State and federal courts are consistent in this holding. In *United States v. Curtis*, 344 F.3d 1057 (10th Cir. 2003), the court found a valid waiver where the defendant was under the influence of marijuana, crack cocaine, and alcohol consumed earlier in the day. In *Curtis*, the defendant looked “a little punchy,” laid his head on the table, closed his eyes at times, and had bloodshot eyes. After reviewing the entire record, the court nevertheless determined the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his rights. *Id.* at 1065. In reaching this conclusion, the court relied particularly on the testimony of the arresting officer that the defendant was calm, cool, and able to answer questions, and appeared to be operating under his own free will. *Id.*

Similarly, in United States v. Morris, 287 F.3d 985 (10th Cir. 2002), the court found the defendant, although in the hospital recovering from gunshot wounds, had nevertheless knowingly and intelligently waived his Miranda rights. The court acknowledged the defendant's mental capacity was affected by pain medication administered at the hospital, and the posttraumatic stress of being shot in the back multiple times. Id. at 989. Nevertheless, looking at the totality of the circumstances, the court said the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his rights because he was “alert and responsive during the interview,” “coherent in previous conversations with the agents guarding the room,” and “demonstrated that he understood his right to remain silent.” Id.

These cases indicate a defendant must be impaired to a substantial degree to overcome his ability to knowingly and intelligently waive his privilege against self-incrimination. *See also* U.S. v. Phillips, 506 F.3d 685 (8th Cir. 2007) (waiver was voluntary despite defendant's claimed intoxication from four ecstasy pills and a cup of brandy); U.S. v. Shan Wei Yu, 484 F.3d 979 (8th Cir. 2007) (waiver was voluntary despite defendant's argument that he was on prescription medicine and should have received rights in Chinese). The mere fact of drug or alcohol use does not preclude a finding of a knowing and voluntary waiver of rights. “The defendant must produce evidence showing his condition was such that it rose to the level of substantial impairment. Only then could we conclude the government has failed to prove the defendant possessed full awareness of both the nature of his rights and the consequences of waiving them.” United States v. Burson, 531 F.3d 1254, 1258 (10th Cir. 2008)

Turning to the case at hand, Appellant failed to demonstrate a level of intoxication so substantial he lacked a full awareness of his rights and the consequences of their

waiver. Even assuming Appellant was truthful when he told the officers he had consumed twenty six beers, cocaine, and MDMA, no testimony was presented to determine when during the day he used these substances. EMS responded to the scene at approximately 11:15 pm (R. p. 251, line 25.) Lt. Coggins received the call to report to the crime scene around 11:30 pm. Without any specific evidence to pinpoint the timing, the State submits Appellant likely consumed his last beverage some time before 11:00 pm that evening. When Appellant's first spoke to Lt. Goggins at the crime scene, the intoxicants in his system would have been at their most potent. Even at his most inebriated state, Appellant was able to understand Lt. Coggins, answer his questions, and agreed to come to the station to aid in the investigation. During that conversation, Appellant was neither in custody nor subject to an interrogation, so he was not Mirandized. His Miranda rights did not attach, therefore, so no waiver of those rights need be examined.

Later, at the station, Appellant received his Miranda rights and spoke to Agent Collins and Agent Owens around 2:00 am. Both agents testified he fully understood their questions and was able to communicate clearly. Though it was clear he was drinking earlier in the day, his intoxication was not as evident to these agents as it was to Lt. Coggins at the scene. By the time of this questioning, three hours passed since his last possible consumption of alcohol, and many hours passed since Appellant attended the party during which he purportedly used MDMA and cocaine.

Appellant was certainly sober when he appeared the next afternoon at the station for questioning. The officers saw no indication of the previous night's intoxication, and they repeatedly Miandized him and discussed his waiver of those rights. Appellant gave another incriminating statement in which he claimed to be unable to remember that night just after 6 pm (nineteen hours after his last likely alcohol consumption and more than

twenty-four hours after his supposed cocaine and MDMA use). Three hours later, he gave the statement in which he admitted he agreed to cover for Beaty. Any intoxicants consumed the day before would have dissipated long before then.

At no point was Appellant confused or incapable of understanding or communicating with law enforcement. Out of an abundance of caution, the officers Mirandized Appellant four times in a twenty-four hour period and made every effort to make Appellant comfortable by offering him blankets, food, drinks, and the freedom to move around the station. Appellant presented no evidence his intoxication was so substantial the night of the Victim's death that it in any way prevented him from understanding his Miranda rights and waiving them with a full understanding of the consequences. Thus, his argument that he did not freely and voluntarily make incriminating statements because of his intoxication is without merit.

II.

Appellant's statements to police were properly admissible because Appellant was neither threatened nor coerced when the officers truthfully told him he would be charged with murder, nor was his will overborne by these comments.

Appellant next argues his incriminating statements were the result of threats made by Agent Collins and Commander Roberts during questioning the day after the death of the Victim. The officers were not threatening Appellant, however, but were merely explaining the consequences of his silence under the circumstances. The officers even explained to Appellant the rationale behind the charges if they were not given further explanation of the events of the night. Far from threatening Appellant, Roberts and Crystal were informing him of a very likely outcome.

A statement may not be “extracted by any sort of threats or violence, [or] obtained by any direct or implied promises, however slight, [or] by the exertion of improper influence.” State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 386, 652 S.E.2d 444, 452 (2007). However, the mere existence of threats, violence, implied promises, improper influence, or other coercive police activity does not automatically render a confession involuntary. State v. Register, 323 S.C. 471,479, 476 S.E.2d. 153, 158 (1996). The proper inquiry is whether the defendant's “will has been overborne and his capacity for self-determination critically impaired.” State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990). The courts base this determination by considering the totality of the circumstances. State v. Register, 323 S.C. 471,480, 476 S.E.2d 153,158 (1996).

In this case, Appellant argues the officers threatened him with a murder charge if he did not give them more information about the Victim's death. Appellant characterizes the officer's statements as threats only because he did not appreciate the gravity of his situation. Appellant's arrest for murder was not a far-fetched hypothetical, but a probable

outcome of the investigation without evidence to the contrary. Concerning threats of future arrests, the issue turns on whether the arrest could have been lawfully executed. United States v. Johnson, 351 F.3d 254, 263 (6th Cir. 2003). In Johnson, the police threatened to arrest the suspect's sister unless the suspect gave them more information about his drug distribution. The officers had probable cause to believe the sister was aware of and involved in her brother's drug business because the operation was run out of her home and drugs were found in her bed. Id. at 263. Because the police had probable cause to arrest the person in question, the court found their threat to do so was not coercive and thus did not render a confession involuntary. Id. If the law allows a statement given for the protection of a family member, when the arrest is supported by probable cause, it certainly should allow a statement given by a suspect to protect himself when he faces more serious charges.

During the interview at approximately 5:30 pm, Agent Collins said to Appellant, "If we don't get the absolute truth from either of you, it's going to be both of you and the charges are going to be the same: murder." (Defense Exhibit 1, 22:45.) Roberts also told Appellant, "You need to tell us today because if we don't get anything today before you walk out that door I'm telling you you're going to be charged with murder, of killing Emily Asbill." (Appellant's brief, p. 9, R. p. 109, lines 14-17.) Collins reasonably explained why the murder charge would be forthcoming: "Because the two of you were in the car-- the three of you were in the car. Y'all are the only three in the car from the time y'all leave Kyle's to the time you got to Calvert Street. Only three people; one of you ended up dead. Process of elimination tells one or both of the three people did something." (Defense Exhibit 1, 23:30.) At this point of the investigation, Roberts and Collins knew the Victim's cause of death was asphyxiation. (R. p. 117, line 3.) Law

enforcement had two suspects, Appellant and Michael Beaty, and still investigating the crime. (R. p. 117, line 20 and p. 120, lines 4-7.) Roberts attempted to record the entire conversation but her iPhone stopped recording every time someone called the phone. (R. p. 121, lines 4-9.)

When Roberts and Collins interviewed Appellant that afternoon, their statements about Appellant's arrest for murder were neither threats nor coercion, but simply the truth. Moreover, Appellant maintained he did not remember the events of the evening and disavowed any knowledge of the details of Victim's death. Appellant's will was not overborne, clearly, as he refused to provide information to the officers despite their efforts to learn more about that night. Instead, Appellant chose to speak truthfully with officers only after Agent Charles administered a polygraph test.

Agent Charles read Miranda rights and administered the polygraph to Appellant at approximately 6:30 pm later that day. (R. p. 125, line 6.) After the polygraph, Appellant admitted to Charles he remembered Beaty and the Victim arguing in the car, Beaty stopping the car for a physical altercation, and then Beaty climbing on top of the Victim and apparently choking her. (R. p. 133, lines 8-14.) Appellant also asked Agent Charles if he could "go talk to those guys and tell them basically what happened." (R. p. 133, lines 18-20.) The interview concluded around 9:00 pm. (R. p. 135, line 20.) When Appellant finally admitted the truth, hours had passed since his interview with Roberts and Collins. Without any evidence of prompting by Agent Charles, Appellant volunteered to speak to Coggins in more detail about the previous night. Far from being coerced, Appellant realized cooperation with the police was in his own best interest, and he opted to help himself.

Appellant was neither threatened nor coerced into making an incriminating statement for two reasons: first, the probable arrest for murder was the truth, not a threat; and second, Appellant did not make the statement in response to Roberts' and Collins' questioning. Given the totality of the circumstances, the trial court properly concluded Appellant's will was not overborne, and his statements were entirely voluntary. Therefore, Appellant's argument his statement was the result of an improper threat is without merit.

CONCLUSION